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DIRECTORS' REPORT 

The Directors of OreCorp Limited present their report on the Consolidated Entity consisting of OreCorp Limited 

(the Company or OreCorp) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during the year ended 30 June 2016 

(Consolidated Entity or Group). 

DIRECTORS 

The names of directors in office at any time during the financial year or since the end of the financial year are: 

 

Mr Craig Williams  Non-Executive Chairman 

Mr Matthew Yates Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director  

Mr Alastair Morrison  Non-Executive Director  

Mr Michael Klessens Non-Executive Director  

Mr Robert Rigo  Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 April 2016) 

Unless noted above, all Directors held their office from 1 July 2015 until the date of this report.  

CURRENT DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS  

Mr Craig Williams 

Non-Executive Chairman 

Member of Audit Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee  

Qualifications – B.Sc. (Hons) 

Mr Williams is a geologist with over 35 years’ experience in mineral exploration and mine development.  

He was the President and CEO of Equinox Minerals Limited (‘Equinox’), a dual listed TSX - ASX resources company 

which he co-founded in 1993 with the late Dr Bruce Nisbet. Mr Williams was instrumental in the financing and 

development of the major Lumwana Copper mine in Zambia which resulted in Equinox being one of the world’s 

top 20 copper producers. Following the ramp up of Lumwana, Equinox embarked on an acquisition program that 

resulted in the takeover of the Citadel Resource Group for $1.2 billion, targeting development of the Jabal Sayid 

Mine in Saudi Arabia. Equinox was taken over in mid-2011 by Barrick Gold Corporation for $7 billion, bringing to 

an end a challenging and exciting 18 year history at Equinox.  

Mr Williams was appointed as Director and Chairman of the Company on 27 February 2013 and he has been a 

Director of OreCorp Resources Pty Ltd since December 2011. During the three year period to the end of the 

financial year, Mr Williams held a non-executive directorship in Liontown Resources Limited (November 2006 - 

current).  

Mr Matthew Yates 

Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director  

Qualifications – B.Sc. (Hons.), MAIG 

Mr Yates is a geologist with over 20 years’ industry experience, covering most facets of exploration from 

generative work to project development. Most recently, he was the Joint Managing Director of Mantra Resources 

Limited and was instrumental in the acquisition of a number of uranium projects, including Mkuju River 

(Tanzania), Kariba (Zambia) and Mavuzi (Mozambique). He has worked in Australia and southern, east and west 

Africa, Central Asia and the Gulf Region. He managed exploration teams in Western Australia and Tanzania 

respectively. Mr Yates has an applied technical background and has held senior positions for over 20 years, 

including resident Exploration Manager in Tanzania for Tanganyika Gold Limited. 
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Mr Yates was appointed a Director of the Company on 27 February 2013 and he has been a Director of OreCorp 

Resources Pty Ltd, which he founded, since June 2010. During the three year period to the end of the financial 

year, Mr Yates was not a director of any other public companies. 

Mr Alastair Morrison 

Non-Executive Director 

Member of Audit Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee  

Qualifications – MSc (Hons), Grad Dip App Fin & Inv, MAIG, GAICD 

Mr Morrison is a geologist with more than 20 years’ experience in mineral exploration and investment. 

He initially worked for more than six years in Australia as an exploration geologist in Western Australia, then for 

North Flinders Mines in the Northern Territory during the development of the +5 million ounce Callie gold 

deposit. 

From 1996 to 2003 he worked in Tanzania for East African Gold Mines Limited at the North Mara Gold Project. 

He was responsible for the management of exploration, overseeing the delineation of more than 5 million ounces 

of resources, including the discovery of the high-grade Gokona gold deposit. In later years, he had additional 

responsibilities for all in-country development activities, through feasibility and permitting until the 

commencement of construction. East African Gold Mines was acquired by Placer Dome Inc. in mid-2003 for 

US$252 million. 

Since 2004, he has worked as an investment analyst for a private, resource-oriented investment fund evaluating 

and investing in mining projects around the world.  

Mr Morrison was appointed a Director of the Company on 27 February 2013 and he has been a Director of 

OreCorp Resources Pty Ltd since June 2010. During the three year period to the end of the financial year, Mr 

Morrison was not a director of any other public companies. 

Mr Michael Klessens 

Non-Executive Director 

Chairman of Audit Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committee  

Qualifications – B.Bus, CPA, MAICD 

Mr Klessens is a CPA with over 24 years practical financial and management experience, particularly within the 

resources industry. This experience has involved all areas of corporate and treasury management, project 

financing, capital raisings, mergers and acquisitions, dual listings, feasibility studies and establishment of systems 

and procedures for new mining operations. 

From 2002 - 2011, Mr Klessens was Vice President - Finance and Chief Financial Officer of Equinox Minerals 

Limited (‘Equinox’), a dual listed TSX - ASX resources company which developed the major Lumwana Copper mine 

in Zambia which resulted in Equinox being one of the world’s top 20 copper producers. Following the ramp up of 

Lumwana, Equinox embarked on an acquisition program that resulted in the takeover of the Citadel Resource 

Group for $1.2 billion, targeting development of the Jabal Sayid Mine in Saudi Arabia. Equinox was taken over in 

mid-2011 by Barrick Gold Corporation for $7 billion.  

Prior to Equinox, Mr Klessens held senior positions in mid-tier Australian resource companies primarily focused 

on gold.  
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Mr Klessens joined the Board of OreCorp as a Director on 27 February 2013 and he has been a Director of 

OreCorp Resources Pty Ltd since March 2012. During the three year period to the end of the financial 

year, Mr Klessens was not a director of any other public companies.  

Mr Robert Rigo 

Non-Executive Director 

Qualifications – B.App Sc, MAICD   

Mr Rigo is an engineer with over 35 years’ experience. He has previously held a number of executive and 

senior management positions with publicly listed mining companies. He was Vice President - Project 

Development at Equinox Minerals Limited (‘Equinox’), where he managed the feasibility study, related 

technical studies and engineering design and construction contracts for the Lumwana Copper Mine in 

Zambia, which commenced production in 2008. He also established Lumwana’s copper concentrate off-

take and logistics contracts. Following Lumwana Mr Rigo managed the construction of Equinox’s Jabal 

Sayid (underground) Copper Mine in Saudi Arabia. 

Amongst Mr Rigo's earlier job roles, he was the Mill Manager at Boddington Gold Mine, at the time 

Australia's largest gold mine. He then became General Manager - Technical Services for Newcrest Mining 

Ltd, Australia's major gold producer. His particular expertise lies in the management of mining operations, 

feasibility studies and construction of mining and mineral processing projects. 

Mr Rigo joined the board of OreCorp as a Director on 1 April 2016. During the three year period to the 

end of the financial year, Mr Rigo was not a director of any other public companies. 

Mr Luke Watson 

CFO & Company Secretary 

Qualifications – B.Bus, CA, ACIS, F Fin 

Mr Watson is a Chartered Accountant, Chartered Secretary and a Fellow of FINSIA. He has significant 

corporate experience including mergers & acquisitions, capital raisings, IPOs and dual listings on the TSX. 

Since 2005, Mr Watson has held senior corporate and finance positions with a number of African-focused 

resources companies, including Mantra Resources Limited (Mantra) and OmegaCorp Limited. Mr Watson 

was the CFO & Company Secretary of Mantra from its $6 million IPO in October 2006 until its acquisition 

by ARMZ (JSC Atomredmetzoloto) for approximately $1 billion in mid-2011. 

Mr Watson was appointed as CFO and Company Secretary on 28 February 2013 and he has held the same 

positions with OreCorp Resources Pty Ltd since October 2011.  

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity consisted of mineral exploration for gold and precious 

metals in Africa, including the completion of a scoping study (Scoping Study) and commencement of a 

pre-feasibility study (PFS) on the Nyanzaga Gold Project Joint Venture (Nyanzaga) in Tanzania.  

EMPLOYEES 

 

  2016 2015 

NThe   Number of full time equivalent people employed by the Consolidated Entity 

at reporting date 15 2 
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DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been declared, provided for or paid in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 

EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 

2016 2015 

Basic loss per share (cents per share) (3.05) (0.57) 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) (3.05) (0.57) 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

OreCorp Limited is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Company 

has prepared a consolidated financial report including the entities it incorporated and controlled during the 

financial year. 

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS 

 

 2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

Loss of the Consolidated Entity before income tax expense  (3,603,871) (650,670) 

Income tax expense - - 

Net loss attributable to members of OreCorp Limited (3,603,871) (650,670) 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND ACTIVITIES 

The operating loss of the Consolidated Entity for the year ended 30 June 2016 was $3,603,871 (2015:  $650,670). 

This loss is largely attributable to: 

(i) The Consolidated Entity's accounting policy of expensing exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred 

by the Consolidated Entity subsequent to the acquisition of the rights to explore and up to the successful 

completion of definitive feasibility studies. During the year, exploration expenditure totalled $2,844,767 

(2015: $892,555 inclusive of discontinued operation).  

The significant increase in exploration expenditure during the period, as compared to the prior year, arose 

following the acquisition of the Company’s interest in the Nyanzaga Gold Project. These activities included 

the completion of a maiden JORC Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE or Resource) and the Scoping Study 

(refer additional details below); and  

(ii) Business development activities which aim to identify and evaluate new mineral resource opportunities, 

in Africa and elsewhere. During the year, business development expenditure totalled $299,670 (2015: 

$395,694). 

It is noted that the abovementioned numbers, and the financial report, are presented in Australian dollars. 

During the year, OreCorp made the following progress at its projects in Tanzania and Mauritania:  
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Tanzania 

Nyanzaga Project (Gold) [OreCorp Earning up to 51%] 

On 22 September 2015, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding earn-in and JV agreement 

(JVA) to earn up to a 51% interest in the Nyanzaga Project in the Lake Victoria Goldfields of Tanzania. 

 

The Lake Victoria Goldfields host an exceptional endowment of gold mineralisation, with four operating gold 

mines that collectively produced >1.2Mozs in 2015 and host >45 Mozs of gold in foreign estimates (Figure 1). 

Tanzania is the third largest gold producer in Africa (www.gold.org) with an internationally respected mining 

industry, a Mining Act revised in 2010 and English language based commerce. 

 

The Nyanzaga Project comprises 27 contiguous Prospecting Licences and renewal applications covering a 

combined area of 271km2, with a further two new applications pending.  In addition to the Nyanzaga deposit, 

there are a number of other exploration prospects within the JV tenements. 

 

 

Figure 1: Lake Victoria Goldfields, Tanzania – Existing Resources 

 

Scoping Study 

The Scoping Study commenced in April 2016 following the completion of the maiden JORC MRE. The Scoping 

Study examined all facets of geology, mining and processing. The Study was completed in early August 2016 and 

confirmed the outstanding potential of the Project. 

 

Highlights from the Study included: 

• Study indicated an outstanding potential, expected to deliver a project with average gold production of 

220koz per annum for the first five years of full production  

• Life of mine (LOM) average production is expected to be 182koz per annum over 13 years for a total of 

~2.4Moz  

• Average Cash Cost estimated to be US$756/oz and All-in Sustaining Cost (AISC) of US$798/oz over LOM  



 

DIRECTORS' REPORT 

(Continued) 
 

6 

• Pre-production capital costs including all associated project infrastructure expected to be $248M (inclusive 

of contingency) 

• Updated MRE of 29.8Mt @ 3.5g/t gold for 3.3Moz gold, an increase of 566koz (~19%) compared to the 

Maiden JORC 2012 MRE released 31 March 2016 

• The MRE averages approximately 4,200 ounces per vertical metre  

• An initial open pit mine is expected to deliver approximately 1.2Moz of gold over its five year mine life 

• A transition to an underground mine from year four onwards at a steady state of 1.1Mtpa, for a total period 

of nine years is expected to deliver a further 1.2Moz of gold 

• Average LOM open pit strip ratio (unmineralised:mineralised) of 2.5:1 (based on low grade mineralised 

material included in mineralised material) 

• Base Case 4Mtpa Carbon in Leach (CIL) processing plant with gold recoveries forecast to average ~85% over 

the LOM 

• Scoping Study optimised at US$1,250/oz gold price 

 

The Scoping Study, led by Lycopodium Minerals Pty Ltd (ASX: LYL; Lycopodium) of Perth, Western Australia, 

examined all facets of geology, mining, processing and supporting infrastructure at a US$1,250/oz gold price. 

  

The Study identified the opportunity to incorporate lower grade mineralisation not included in the JORC 2012 

MRE released on 31 March 2016. This lower grade mineralisation is included in an updated MRE estimated at 

29.8Mt at 3.5g/t gold for 3.3Moz gold, an increase of 566koz (~19%) see Table 1 below. 

 

OreCorp Limited – Nyanzaga Gold Project – Tanzania 

Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) as at 10 August, 2016 

JORC 2012 Classification Tonnes (Mt) Gold Grade (g/t) Gold Metal (Moz) 

Measured 2.93 3.77 0.356 

Indicated 21.77 3.45 2.416 

Sub-Total M & I 24.70 3.49 2.772 

Inferred 5.10 3.49 0.572 

Total 29.80 3.49 3.344 

Reported at a 1.5g/t gold cut-off grade. MRE defined by 3D wireframe interpretation with subcell block 

modelling. Gold grade estimated using Ordinary Kriging using a 10 x 10 x 10m estimation panel and Uniform 

Conditioning followed by Localisation to simulate 2.5 x 2.5 x 5m selectivity. Totals may not add up due to 

appropriate rounding of the MRE 
 

Table 1: Nyanzaga Gold Project – Updated Mineral Resource Estimate 

 

The Study evaluated the technical and economic viability of both open pit (OP) and underground (UG) 

development scenarios. Processing options were considered in the context of various mining scenarios to 

optimise both throughput capacity utilisation and mineralised feed flexibility to enhance metallurgical outcomes.  
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The current preferred development option is to initially develop Nyanzaga as a 4Mtpa OP operation (Phase 1), 

transitioning in year four into an OP/UG operation (Phase 2). The Project is expected to deliver average annual 

gold production of 182koz over a 13 year LOM, peaking at 246koz in year five and totalling ~2.4Moz over the 

LOM.  The first five years of full production are expected to average ~220koz pa. The AISC is estimated to be 

US$798/oz over the LOM. 

 

 

Figure 2: Gold Production by Source versus Unit Cost (AISC) 

 

 

Figure 3: Nyanzaga MRE Model with Conceptual Pit 
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Figure 4: Concept of UG Operation with Exploration Drives, Stopes and Vent Rises 

 

The process facility is based on a conventional flow sheet design of a semi-autogenous mill/ball mill configuration 

(‘SABC’) comminution circuit, gravity recovery and CIL processes, utilising proven technology that has been used 

globally for many years. 

 

 

Figure 5: Conceptual Process Flow Sheet 
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Capital costs (determined to a nominal accuracy of +/-35%) for the process plant and associated project 

infrastructure are estimated at US$248M and includes a US$43M contingency. This does not include a mining 

fleet as the Study is based on a contractor mining scenario for both OP and UG. 

 

Capital Costs (+/- 35%)  US$M % 

Mine Pre-strip & Pre-production 14 6 

Process Plant 65 26 

Reagents & Plant Services  8 3 

Infrastructure  56 23 

Mine Admin Building 1 <1 

Contractor & Construction Services 12 5 

Subtotal 156  

Management Costs 15 6 

Owners Project Costs 30 12 

General Working Capital 4 2 

Subtotal 49  

Contingency  43 21 

Project Total 248  

Table 2 - Summary of Capital Costs (+/- 35% nominal accuracy) 

   

UG development will commence in year three and generate mineralised material from year five onwards at a 

steady state of 1.1Mtpa, for a total period of nine years based on the current MRE.  The Scoping Study indicates 

that the capital costs associated with the UG may be funded from cash flow generated by the OP operation. 

Initial UG development capital is expected to be approximately US$18M, while ongoing UG development capital 

is estimated at US$16M pa. All UG development expenditure is included in AIC. 

 

The key operating assumptions and financial outcomes of the scoping study are set out in Table 2 below. All costs 

are in US$ and no exchange rate assumptions have been made. 
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Parameter Value 

Development period (Months)  18 

Mine life (Years)  13 

Total Mill Throughput (Mt) LOM includes low grade material 46.7  

Measured & Indicated Resources 83% 

Inferred Resources 17% 

Annual throughput (Mtpa) 4 

Strip ratio (life of pit) 2.5:1 

Steady state underground mining rate (Mtpa) 1.1 

Average OP direct feed mineralised material grade mined (g/t gold) 1.8#  

Average UG mineralised diluted grade mined (g/t gold) 3.7  

Average mill feed grade LOM (g/t gold) 1.9 

Gold recovery  85% 

Production (Average LOM gold koz pa) 182  

Open pit mining costs (US$/t material moved) 3.40 

Underground mining costs (US$/t) 52 

Processing cost (US$/t milled) 10.60 

Power cost (US$/kWh) 0.12 

General and admin (US$/t milled) 2.30 

Upfront Project capital (including US$43M contingency, US$M) 248 

Year three UG development capital (US$M) 18 

Sustaining capital – Above Ground (US$M pa) 7.7 

Average life of UG Development capital (US$M pa) 16 

Corporate tax and royalty rates  30% and 4%  

Average Cash Cost (US$/oz) 756 

AISC* LOM average (US$/oz) 798 

AIC* (All-in Cost) LOM average (US$/oz) 874 

Gold Price (US$/oz)  1,250 

# excluding low grade mineralised material  

 

 

* AISC and AIC as per as per World Gold Council definitions  

Table 3: Scoping Study Parameters 

 

A PFS commenced immediately in mid-August, primarily focusing on optimisation of OP and UG mining and the 

process flow sheet to enhance gold recovery through optimisation of the comminution, gravity gold, leach and 

elution circuits. The PFS will also provide additional definition to the Projects’ infrastructure requirements such 

as power, water supply and logistics.  

 

OreCorp believes there is potential to enhance the Project economics by:  

• Optimising OP and UG mine designs 

• Assessing contractor vs owner operator mining fleet 

• Optimising metallurgical recovery through the various PFS testwork studies 
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• Examining the consumption rates of reagents, their transport and potential recovery to reduce 

operating costs 

 

Infill, sterilisation and exploration drilling programs are scheduled to commence in the third quarter of 2016. 

These are being undertaken with the objective of: 

• Upgrading portions of the MRE potentially mineable by OP methods in the first three years of mine life 

to predominantly Measured category 

• Supporting the metallurgical and comminution testwork program 

• Sterilisation drilling to confirm plant, associated infrastructure, waste dump and Tailings Storage Facility 

(TSF) locations 

• Testing of exploration targets 

The Directors believe that the positive results of the Scoping Study for Nyanzaga underpin the Company’s 

strategy of focusing on near-term production and generating an early cash flow, and further demonstrates the 

potential of the Project to deliver significant returns for shareholders from a substantial, low cost gold operation. 

 

Mauritania 

Akjoujt South Project (Nickel - Copper: 90% interest in Licences 1415 & 1416, granted) 

The Akjoujt South Project comprises two licences (1415 and 1416) and covers 460 km2. The licences were 

renewed for a period of three years, effective from July 2015. An application has been lodged covering the 136 

km2 immediately to the north of licence 1415 and Anomaly 5. 

 

Anomaly 5 was identified in a regional soil sampling programme which generated an anomalous soil sample of 

0.26% nickel and 0.23% copper. The anomalism is associated with a circular intrusive body and alteration 

assemblage. Subsequent mapping, infill sampling and trenching defined a zone of geochemical anomalism 

approximately 1.6km long. Trenching across this anomalism has intersected mineralised intervals of up to 160m 

in width of 0.24% nickel and 0.21% copper. Further mineralisation has been identified in Trench 9, three 

kilometres to the east. Significant IP geophysical anomalism was encountered in a survey completed and 

reported during the December 2015 quarter (Figure 6). Diamond drilling commenced in the March 2016 quarter 

along with a concurrent ground magnetic survey and both programmes were completed during the June quarter. 

 

The initial reconnaissance diamond drill programme tested the encouraging geophysical, trench and soil 

geochemical anomalism encountered in previous OreCorp exploration campaigns, for nickel - copper sulphide 

mineralisation. The drilling programme concluded with five diamond holes drilled at Anomaly 5 and one hole at 

Trench 9 for a total of 1,040m of drilling. 

  

The drilling defined significant nickel-copper and sympathetic cobalt +/- silver sulphide mineralisation. The 

mineralisation is hosted within disseminated and semi massive to massive sulphide breccia zones associated with 

altered gabbro, mafic and orthogneiss country rock. The mineralisation comprises breccia and disseminated 

textured dominant pyrrhotite with pentlandite and chalcopyrite primary mineralisation and overlying gossan and 

secondary nickel sulphide violarite. Highlights from the programme included: 

• Nickel-copper mineralisation was intersected from depths as shallow as 2m below surface 

• Drill intercepts were up to 31m down hole width, with peak nickel and copper values of 1.34% and 1.29% 

respectively 

• Mineralisation was encountered over a total of one kilometre in strike length, comprising a series of 

sub-parallel gossan/sulphide zones individually up to 350m in strike length 

• Better drill intercepts included: 

−   ASPDD002 31m @ 0.31% Ni and 0.21% Cu from 11m; and 9m @ 0.21% Ni and 0.10% Cu from 94m 
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−  ASPDD003 13m @ 0.35% Ni and 0.24% Cu from 2m; and 15m @ 0.58% Ni and 0.40% Cu from 19m 

(incl. 3m @ 1.28% Ni and 0.29% Cu from 29m) 

−  ASPDD004 16.7m @ 0.40% Ni and 0.22% Cu from 16.3m (incl. 1m @ 1.05% Ni and 0.23% Cu from 

31m) 

−  ASPDD005 4.7m @ 0.39% Ni and 0.20% Cu from 116.8m (incl. 0.70m @ 1.00% Ni and 0.15% Cu 

from 116.8m) 

• Petrology confirmed a nickel-copper sulphide style of mineralisation 

 

Figure 6: Akjoujt South Project - Geology and Geochemistry with Geophysical Survey Areas and Ground 

Magnetic Anomalies  

 

Future work will involve data integration, target generation and ranking. It is anticipated that further ground 

magnetics, ground EM, regional surface geochemistry and mapping will be utilised to enhance the understanding 

and refine the targeting within this highly prospective project. 

Australia 

Cheriton’s East Project (Au-Ni-Cu: OreCorp 100% in Licence E77/1223) 

The Cheriton’s East Project (E77/1223) is located 48km south-east of Marvel Loch in the Eastern Goldfields of 

Western Australia and covers an area of 14.6km2. Field work completed this year included detailed geological 

mapping at 1:5,000 scale, re-examination of old anomalous RAB drill holes, the re-evaluation of the geology and 

geochemistry of the mineralised holes and the collection of rock chip samples. No significant results were 

obtained from the rock chip samples and the Company is currently considering its options for this Project. 
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Corporate and Financial 

 

In May and June 2016, the Company completed a capital raising which involved the issue of 60 million fully paid 

ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.27 per share to institutional and sophisticated investors in Europe and 

Australia, raising $16.2 million (before costs). 

 

The Placement was conducted in two tranches, with the Second Tranche Shares subject to shareholder approval. 

Shareholder approval for the issue of the Second Tranche Shares was obtained at the general meeting held on 

22 June 2016. 

 

Proceeds from the Placement will be used to fast track the various planned development and exploration 

activities both at the Nyanzaga Gold Project in Tanzania and the Akjoujt South Nickel - Copper Project in 

Mauritania, including: 

• completion of the Scoping, Pre-Feasibility and Definitive Feasibility Studies for Nyanzaga; 

• advancement of regional exploration activities at Nyanzaga, including drilling of priority targets; 

• permitting and licensing for Nyanzaga;  

• a follow-up drilling programme at the Anomaly 5 Nickel - Copper Prospect in Mauritania; and 

• general working capital. 

 

At 30 June 2016, the Group was in a strong financial position with $17.3m in cash and no debt. 

 

Business Development 

OreCorp has continued to assess advanced projects and corporate opportunities throughout Africa which may 

enhance shareholder value.  

 

Business Strategies and Prospects 

The Consolidated Entity currently has the following business strategies and prospects over the medium to long-

term: 

(i) To complete the PFS and if positive immediately commence a definitive feasibility study (DFS), on the 

Nyanzaga Project. This will potentially enable the Company to achieve its strategic objective of becoming 

a gold producer. 

 

(ii) Undertake further work on the Anomaly 5 Prospect in Mauritania, including ground magnetics and ground 

EM to refine drill targets for a follow-up drilling program. 

 

(iii) Seek to maximise the value of the Consolidated Entity's portfolio of exploration assets in Africa; and 

 

(iv) Continue to identify and evaluate new mineral resource and other corporate opportunities, which can 

enhance shareholder value. 

Risk Management 

The Board is responsible for the oversight of the Consolidated Entity's risk management and control framework. 

Responsibility for control and risk management is delegated to the appropriate level of management with the 

Chief Executive Officer having ultimate responsibility to the Board for the risk management and control 

framework. 
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Other than as disclosed below, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity 

during the year. 

(i) On 22 September 2015, OreCorp announced that it had entered into a binding joint venture agreement 

(JV) with Acacia Mining plc (Acacia) to earn an interest in the Nyanzaga Project in northwest Tanzania.  

(ii) The Company then engaged independent experts CSA Global completed a JORC compliant Mineral 

Resource Estimate (MRE or Resource). Following the completion of the Scoping Study, Nyanzaga now 

hosts 3.3 million ounces of gold at 3.5 g/t (refer to ASX Announcements dated 31 March and 10 August 

2016). 

(iii) In April 2016, the Scoping Study for the Nyanzaga Project commenced. Lycopodium was engaged to 

complete the Study. The Scoping Study was completed in August 2016, ahead of schedule and on budget 

and confirmed the outstanding potential of the Project. The Board subsequently approved the PFS to 

commence immediately (refer to the summary above for further details). 

(iv) During the June Quarter, the Company completed a reconnaissance diamond drilling programme on 

Anomaly 5 at the Akjoujt South Project in Mauritania, with five of six holes intersecting zones of 

disseminated and breccia-fill sulphide mineralisation. Significant nickel-copper mineralisation was 

intersected at shallow depths over broad widths and significant strike length in four of the six holes drilled. 

Drill intercepts are up to 31m down hole width, with peak nickel and copper values of 1.34% and 1.29% 

respectively. Mineralisation has been encountered over a total of one kilometre in strike length (refer to 

ASX Announcement dated 2 August 2016). 

(v) In May and June 2016, the Company completed a capital raising which involved the issue of 60 million 

fully paid ordinary shares at an issue price of $0.27 per share to institutional and sophisticated investors 

in Europe and Australia, raising $16.2 million (before costs). At 30 June 2016, the Group was in a strong 

financial position with $17.3m in cash and no debt; and 

(vi) At the general meeting held on 22 June 2016 shareholder approval was also obtained for the 

establishment of the Employee Option Acquisition Plan, the grant of options under that plan and the grant 

of options to the Non-Executive Directors. Accordingly, the Company has granted 5,285,000 options under 

the plan (including 1,500,000 to the Company’s CEO and Managing Director) and 3,250,000 options to the 

Non-Executive Directors. 

SIGNIFICANT POST BALANCE DATE EVENTS 

Other than as disclosed below, there were no significant events occurring after balance date requiring disclosure. 

(i) On 10 August 2016, the Company completed the Scoping Study for the Nyanzaga Project (a full summary 

of the Scoping Study results is provided above). The Study confirmed the outstanding potential of the 

Project and its ability to potentially generate robust cash flows. The Board subsequently approved the PFS 

to commence immediately in mid-August and expects to complete this study in Q1 2017; and 

(ii) On 2 September 2016, the Company granted 1,300,000 unlisted options under the Employee Option 

Acquisition Plan to key employees. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

 

The Group's operations are subject to various environmental laws and regulations in each of the African countries 

in which it holds exploration licences. The Group aims for full compliance with these laws and regulations and 

regards them as a minimum standard for all operations to achieve. 

Instances of environmental non-compliance by an operation are identified either internally, or by external 

compliance audits or inspections by relevant government authorities.  

There have been no significant known breaches by the Consolidated Entity during the financial year.  

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS  

It is the Board's current intention that the Consolidated Entity will: 

• focus on the Nyanzaga Project JV, including the completion of the pre-feasibility study in Q1 2017 and 

then intends to move immediately into the DFS phase; 

• undertake further regional exploration programmes at Nyanzaga, including the drilling of priority 

targets proximal to the Nyanzaga deposit; 

• continue to explore its Akjoujt South Project in Mauritania, including further geophysical and drilling 

programmes; and 

• continue to review other resource opportunities which may enhance shareholder value. 

The successful completion of these activities will assist the Group to achieve its strategic objective of becoming 

a developer of the Nyanzaga Project in the near term. 

These activities are inherently risky and the Board is unable to provide certainty that any or all of these objectives 

will be able to be achieved. In the opinion of the Directors, any further disclosure of information regarding likely 

developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity and the expected results of these operations in 

subsequent financial years may prejudice the interests of the Group and accordingly, further information has not 

been disclosed. 

 

SHARE OPTIONS  

At the date of this report, the following options have been issued over unissued shares: 

(1) 2,985,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.41 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(2) 2,800,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.45 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(3) 2,750,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.50 each that expire on 31 May 2020 

(4) 250,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.50 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(5) 250,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.60 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(6) 250,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.70 each that expire on 31 August 2020 

(7) 250,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.80 each that expire on 31 December 2021 

(8) 100,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.75 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(9) 100,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.85 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(10) 100,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.95 each that expire on 31 May 2020 
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 

The following table sets out the number of meetings of the Company's Directors held during the year ended 30 

June 2016, and the number of meetings attended by each Director. 

 

 Board Meetings(1) 

Audit Committee 

Meetings 

Remuneration & 

Nomination Committee 

Meetings 

Directors 

Number 

Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 

Attended 

Number 

Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 

Attended 

Number 

Eligible to 

Attend 

Number 

Attended 

Craig Williams 8 8 2 2 1 1 

Matthew Yates 8 8 - - - - 

Alastair Morrison 8 8 2 2 1 1 

Michael Klessens 8 8 2 2 1 1 

Robert Rigo 2 1 - - - - 

Notes 

(1) In addition to the Board Meetings held during the year, there were a number of matters resolved by 

way of Circular Resolution that are not reflected in the table above. 

 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)  

This Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors' Report, sets out information about the 

remuneration of Key Management Personnel ('KMP') of the Group. The term KMP refers to those persons having 

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or 

indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the Group. 

Details of Key Management Personnel 

Details of the KMP during or since the end of the financial year are set out below: 

Directors 

Mr Craig Williams  Non-Executive Chairman  

Mr Matthew Yates Chief Executive Officer & Managing Director  

Mr Alastair Morrison  Non-Executive Director  

Mr Michael Klessens Non-Executive Director  

Mr Robert Rigo  Non-Executive Director (appointed 1 April 2016) 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Mr Luke Watson – CFO & Company Secretary 

Unless noted above, all KMP held their position from 1 July 2015 until the date of this report. 

Other than the CEO and CFO, there were no executives of the Company or Group during the year. 

  



 

OreCorp Limited ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2016 17 

Remuneration Policy 

The Group's remuneration policy for its KMP has been developed by the Board taking into account the size of 

the Group, the size of the management team for the Group, the nature and stage of development of the Group's 

current operations, and market conditions and comparable salary levels for companies of a similar size and 

operating in similar sectors. 

In addition to considering the above general factors, the Board has also placed emphasis on the following specific 

issues in determining the remuneration policy for KMP: 

(i) the Group is currently concentrating on the recently acquired Nyanzaga Project JV, including the 

completion of the Scoping Study, PFS and intended completion of the DFS for the Project, reviewing other 

mineral resource opportunities, as well as the exploration of its Akjoujt South Project in Mauritania. The 

Board considers that the experience of its KMP in the resources industry will greatly assist the Group in 

achieving its strategic objectives and progressing its exploration properties over the next 12 – 24 months; 

(ii) risks associated with developing resource companies whilst exploring and developing projects, 

particularly at the ‘grass roots’ stage; and 

(iii) other than profit which may be generated from asset sales, the Group does not expect to be undertaking 

profitable operations until after the commencement of commercial production on any of its projects. 

Executive Remuneration 

Fixed Remuneration 

Fixed remuneration consists of base salaries, as well as employer contributions to superannuation funds and 

other non-cash benefits. KMP who are residents of Australia for taxation purposes receive a statutory 

superannuation contribution (subject to statutory age-based limits) and do not receive any other retirement 

benefits. 

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board. The process consists of a review of Consolidated Entity 

and individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration externally and internally and, where 

appropriate, external advice on policies and practices. 

Performance Based Remuneration – Short-Term Incentive Plan ('STIP') 

Subject to the global equity markets improving (and in particular commodities prices and the resources sector), 

the Group intends to introduce a STIP when it has successfully completed feasibility studies at the Nyanzaga 

Project, whereby its KMP will be entitled to an annual cash bonus upon achieving various key performance 

indicators ('KPI's'), as set by the Board. As at the date of this Report, a STIP had not been ratified and introduced 

by the Board. 

Performance Based Remuneration – Long-Term Incentive Plan ('LTIP') 

As approved by shareholders at the General Meeting held on 22 June 2016, the Consolidated Entity has adopted 

an option plan for employees and contractors (‘Option Plan’). As at 30 June 2016, the following options had been 

issued to KMP pursuant to the Option Plan: 

(1) 1,885,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.41 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(2) 1,700,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.45 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(3) 1,700,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.50 each that expire on 31 May 2020 

 

The Group has and intends to continue to issue options pursuant to the LTIP in order to attract and retain the 

services of its KMP and to provide an incentive linked to the performance of the Consolidated Entity. The Option 

Plan will be administered by the Directors.  
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In the absence of a formal LTIP in prior years, the Board had chosen to issue incentive options to some directors 

and executives as a key component of the incentive portion of their remuneration, in order to attract and retain 

the services of the directors and executives and to provide an incentive linked to the performance of the 

Consolidated Entity. The Board considers that each person’s experience in the resources industry will greatly 

assist the Consolidated Entity in progressing its projects to the next stage of development and the identification 

of new projects. As such, the Board believes that the number of incentive options granted to its directors and 

KMP during the year was reasonable and justified. During the year ended 30 June 2016, the following incentive 

options were issued to the Company’s non-executive directors (these are not included with the Employee Option 

Plan): 

(1) 1,100,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.41 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(2) 1,100,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.45 each that expire on 23 June 2019 

(3) 1,050,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.50 each that expire on 31 May 2020 

The Board has a policy of granting options to directors and KMP with exercise prices at or above market share 

price (at the time of agreement). As such, incentive options granted to directors and KMP will generally only be 

of benefit if they perform to the level whereby the value of the Consolidated Entity increases sufficiently to 

warrant exercising the incentive options granted.  

Other than the criteria noted above, there are no performance requirements on the incentive options granted 

to directors and KMP, as given the speculative nature of the Group’s activities and the small management team 

responsible for its running, it is considered the performance of the directors and KMP is closely related to the 

performance and value of the Consolidated Entity. 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration  

The Board's policy is for fees to Non-Executive Directors to be no greater than market rates for comparable 

companies for time, commitment and responsibilities. Given the current size, nature and risks of the Company, 

Incentive Options have been and will continue to be used in future to attract and retain Non-Executive Directors. 

The Board determines payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based 

on market practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice may be sought when required. 

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors, currently $225,000, has 

been approved by shareholders at a General Meeting. Director's fees paid to Non-Executive Directors accrue on 

a daily basis. Fees for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the Group. However, to align 

Directors' interests with shareholder interests, the Directors are encouraged to hold shares and/or options in the 

Company and Non-Executive Directors may in limited circumstances receive Incentive Options in order to secure 

their initial or ongoing services (refer tables below for further details of share and option holdings). 

Fees for the Chairman are presently $75,000 per annum (2015: $50,000) and fees for Non-Executive Directors' 

are presently set at $44,000 - $50,000 per annum (2015: $40,000). These fees cover main board activities as well 

as duties for board sub-committees. Non-Executive Directors may receive additional remuneration for other 

services provided to the Company, including but not limited to, membership of committees and services that 

would ordinarily not be expected of a non-executive director.  
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Impact of Shareholder Wealth on Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

The Board does not directly base remuneration levels on the Company's share price or movement in the share 

price over the financial year. However, as noted above, KMP may receive Incentive Options which generally will 

only be of value should the value of the Company's shares increase sufficiently to warrant exercising the Incentive 

Options granted. 

The Board anticipates that, during the Group's exploration and development phases of its business, it will retain 

earnings (if any) and other cash resources for the exploration and development of its resource projects. 

Accordingly, the Company does not currently have a policy with respect to the payment of dividends, and as a 

result the remuneration policy does not take into account the level of dividends or other distributions to 

shareholders (e.g. return of capital). 

Impact of Earnings on Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

The Group is currently undertaking exploration and project evaluation activities and does not expect to be 

undertaking profitable operations until after the successful commercialisation, production and sale of 

commodities from one or more of its projects. Accordingly, the Board does not consider current or prior year 

earnings when assessing remuneration of KMP.  

Group Performance 

The table below sets out summary information about the Consolidated Entity's earnings and movements in 

shareholder wealth for the last four financial years: 

 

 Year Ended 

30 June 2016 

$ 

Year Ended 

30 June 2015 

$ 

Year Ended 

30 June 2014 

$ 

Period Ended 

30 June 2013 

$ 

Interest revenue 48,526 73,617 212,455 289,949 

Other income - 293,171 - - 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain / (loss)  235,682 836,452 (115,986) 118,836 

Loss before tax (3,603,871) (650,670) (2,665,151) (6,781,640) 

Loss after tax (3,603,871) (650,670) (2,665,151) (6,781,640) 

Dividends - - - - 

Share price 0.31 0.05 0.06 0.09 

Basic loss per share (cents per share) (3.05) (0.57) (2.35) (8.26) 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) (3.05) (0.57) (2.35) (8.26) 
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Key Management Personnel Remuneration  

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the remuneration of each KMP of the Company or Group 

for the financial year are as follows:  

 

 Short-Term 

Benefits 

Post 

Employment 

Benefits 

Share 

Based(1) 

Payments  

 % of Total 

Remuneration 

that consists 

of Option 

Valuations  

2016 

Salary & Fees 

$ 

Superannuation 

$ 

Accounting 

Valuation 

$ 
Total 

$ 

 

 

% 

Directors      

Craig Williams 45,688 4,312 2,111 52,111 4.05% 

Matthew Yates 240,000 35,000 3,125 278,125 1.12% 

Alastair Morrison 36,551 3,449 1,563 41,563 3.76% 

Michael Klessens 36,551 3,449 1,563 41,563 3.76% 

Robert Rigo 

(appointed 1 April 2016) 

10,000 - 1,563 11,563 13.51% 

Other KMP      

Luke Watson 225,000 25,000 1,875 251,875 0.74% 

Notes 

(1) The value of options granted during the period is recognised in compensation over the vesting period 

of the grant, in accordance with Australian accounting standards. 

(2) Details of incentive options granted as remuneration to each Key Management Personnel of the 

Company or Group during the financial year are outlined in further detail separately below. 

 

 Short-Term 

Benefits 

 Post 

Employment 

Benefits 

 

2015 

Salary & Fees 

$ 

 Superannuation 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Directors     

Craig Williams 45,688  4,312 50,000 

Matthew Yates 240,000  35,000 275,000 

Alastair Morrison 36,551  3,449 40,000 

Michael Klessens 36,551  3,449 40,000 

Other KMP     

Luke Watson 225,000  25,000 250,000 

Note 

(1) There were no long-term benefits, including incentive options, paid or issued to KMP during the year 

ended 30 June 2015. 
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Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel 

 

Key Management Person 2016 

Opening Balance at  

1 July 2015 Other Changes  Held at 30 June 2016 

Directors    

Craig Williams (1) (2) 1,524,989 845,381 2,370,370 

Matthew Yates   10,495,578 - 10,495,578 

Alastair Morrison 5,124,874 - 5,124,874 

Michael Klessens (2) 1,625,000 370,370 1,995,370 

Robert Rigo (2) 100,000 370,370 470,370 

Other KMP    

Luke Watson (2) 875,500 277,781 1,153,281 

Notes 

(1) On 30 September & 2 October 2015, Mr Williams acquired a total of 475,011 shares on market. 

(2) On 23 June 2016 Messrs Williams, Klessens, Rigo and Watson bought shares at $0.27 each as part of the 

capital raising. The participation of the directors in the capital raising was approved by shareholders at 

the General Meeting held on 22 June 2016. 

Option Holdings of Key Management Personnel 

 

The aggregate number of options over ordinary shares of the Company held directly, indirectly or beneficially by 

KMP of the Company or Group or their related entities at balance date is as follows:  

 

Key Management 

Person 2016 

Opening Balance at 

1 July 2015 

# 

Grant of 

Options (1) 

# 

Held at 

30 June 2016 

# 

Vested and 

Exercisable at 

30 June 2016 

# 

Directors     

Craig Williams  - 1,000,000 1,000,000 Nil 

Matthew Yates - 1,500,000 1,500,000 Nil 

Alastair Morrison  - 750,000 750,000 Nil 

Michael Klessens  - 750,000 750,000 Nil 

Robert Rigo - 750,000 750,000 Nil 

Other KMP     

Luke Watson  - 900,000 900,000 Nil 

Notes 

(1) On 22 June 2016 Messrs Williams, Yates, Morrison, Klessens, Rigo and Watson were granted options. The 

options were granted pursuant to shareholder approval obtained at the General Meeting held on 22 June 

2016. 
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2016 

Issuing 

Entity 

Grant 

Date 

Expiry 

Date 

Exercise 

Price 

$ 

Grant 

Date Fair 

Value  

$ 

No. 

Granted 

No. 

Vested 

at 30 

June 

2016 

% of 

Grant 

Vested 

 %  

% of Total 

Remuneration 

that consists of 

Option 

Valuations 

% 

Directors          

Craig Williams OreCorp 22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.41 $0.117 350,000 Nil - 4.05% 

  22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.45 $0.111 350,000 Nil -  

  22-06-16 31-05-20 $0.50 $0.125 300,000 Nil -  

Matthew Yates OreCorp 22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.41 $0.117 500,000 Nil - 1.12% 

  22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.45 $0.111 500,000 Nil -  

  22-06-16 31-05-20 $0.50 $0.125 500,000 Nil -  

Alastair Morrison OreCorp 22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.41 $0.117 250,000 Nil - 3.76% 

  22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.45 $0.111 250,000 Nil -  

  22-06-16 31-05-20 $0.50 $0.125 250,000 Nil -  

Michael Klessens OreCorp 22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.41 $0.117 250,000 Nil - 3.76% 

  22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.45 $0.111 250,000 Nil -  

  22-06-16 31-05-20 $0.50 $0.125 250,000 Nil -  

Robert Rigo OreCorp 22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.41 $0.117 250,000 Nil - 13.51% 

  22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.45 $0.111 250,000 Nil -  

  22-06-16 31-05-20 $0.50 $0.125 250,000 Nil -  

Other KMP          

Luke Watson OreCorp 22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.41 $0.117 300,000 Nil - 0.74% 

  22-06-16 23-06-19 $0.45 $0.111 300,000 Nil -  

  22-06-16 31-05-20 $0.50 $0.125 300,000 Nil -  

Notes 

(1)  Details on the valuation of the options granted during the year ended 30 June 2016, including models and 

assumptions used are provided in Note 16. 

(2) Each option converts into one ordinary share of OreCorp Limited on exercise. 

(3)  No amounts are paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the options. The options are subject to 

vesting periods of 12, 18 and 24 months. There are no further service or performance criteria that need 

to be met in relation to options granted. 
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Details of the value of options granted, exercised or lapsed for each Key Management Personnel of the Company 

or Group during the financial year are as follows: 

 

 

Total Value of 

Options Granted 

During the Year (1) 

$ 

Value of Options 

Exercised During 

the Year 

$ 

Value of Options 

Lapsed During the 

Year (2) 

$ 

2016    

Directors    

Craig Williams 117,300 - - 

Matthew Yates 176,500 - - 

Alastair Morrison 88,250 - - 

Michael Klessens 88,250 - - 

Robert Rigo 88,250 - - 

Other KMP    

Luke Watson 105,900 - - 

Notes 

(1) The value of options granted during the year is recognised in compensation over the vesting period of the 

grant, in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

(2) No options were forfeited or cancelled during the year ended 30 June 2016. 

(3) There were no options issued to Directors or KMP during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 

Employment Contracts with Key Management Personnel 

Mr Matthew Yates, Chief Executive Officer, has a contract of employment with OreCorp Limited. The contract 

specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the CEO. The contract has no fixed term and may be 

terminated by either party giving three months’ notice. No amount is payable in the event of termination for 

neglect or incompetence in regard to the performance of duties other than accrued entitlements. In the event 

of termination by either party in certain circumstances, Mr Yates is entitled to 12 months’ salary. Since August 

2010, Mr Yates' cash remuneration has totalled $275,000 per annum (inclusive of superannuation). Effective 1 

July 2016, Mr Yates will receive $350,000 per annum (inclusive of superannuation). In addition, as approved by 

shareholders on 22 June 2016, Mr Yates is a participant in the Company's ‘Employee Option Plan’ and will be 

entitled to participate in the ‘Short-Term Incentive Plan’, as and when introduced by the Board.  

Mr Luke Watson, Chief Financial Officer & Company Secretary, has a contract of employment with OreCorp 

Limited. The contract specifies the duties and obligations to be fulfilled by the CFO. The contract has no fixed 

term and may be terminated by either party giving three months’ notice. No amount is payable in the event of 

termination for neglect or incompetence in regard to the performance of duties other than accrued entitlements. 

In the event of termination by either party in certain circumstances, Mr Watson is entitled to 12 months’ salary. 

Since October 2011, Mr Watson's cash remuneration has totalled $250,000 per annum, (inclusive of 

superannuation). Effective 1 July 2016, Mr Watson will receive $275,000 per annum (inclusive of 

superannuation). In addition, as approved by shareholders on 22 June 2016, Mr Watson is a participant in the 

Company's ‘Employee Option Plan’ and will be entitled to participate in the ‘Short-Term Incentive Plan’, as and 

when introduced by the Board. 

End of Remuneration Report. 
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INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND AUDITORS 

The Constitution of the Company requires the Company, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify any person 

who is or has been a director or officer of the Company or Group for any liability caused as such a director or 

officer and any legal costs incurred by a director or officer in defending an action for any liability caused as such 

a director or officer. 

During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors and the 

company secretary of the company (as named above) of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 

as such a director or secretary to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance 

prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium. 

The Company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by 

law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate 

against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. It noted that there were no such liabilities during the 

financial year. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 

The Group may decide to use its auditor to provide non-audit services where the auditor’s expertise and 

experience with the Group is important. 

 

During the year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Group: 

 

Services provided by the Company’s auditors 

Year Ended 

30 June 2016 

$ 

Year Ended 

30 June 2015 

$ 

Deloitte Australia:   

- Audit and review of financial report 29,700 29,500 

- Other non-audit services - - 

PwC Tanzania:   

- Audit and review of financial report 10,257 - 

- Other non-audit services (taxation advice) 3,556 - 

Total remuneration for auditors 43,513 29,500 

 

There were no non-audit services provided by the Group auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s 

behalf) during the financial year. A total of $3,556 was paid to OreCorp Tanzania Limited’s auditor (PwC Tanzania) 

for taxation advice and services. 

 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

The auditor's independence declaration is on page 66 of the Financial Report. 
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This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

For and on behalf of the Directors 

 

MATTHEW YATES 

Chief Executive Officer 

12 September 2016 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
 

  Consolidated 

 

Notes 

Year Ended 

2016 

A$ 

Year Ended 

2015 

A$ 

Revenue  2 48,526 73,617 

Other income 2 - 293,171 

Realised foreign exchange gain 2 235,682 836,452 

Corporate and administration costs 3 (743,642) (567,229) 

Exploration and evaluation costs  (2,844,767) (691,262) 

Business development costs  (299,670) (395,694) 

Other expenses 3(a) - 1,568 

Loss before tax from continuing operations  (3,603,871) (449,377) 

Income tax expense 4 - - 

Loss for the year from continuing operations  (3,603,871) (449,377) 

Discontinued operation costs 3(g) - (201,293) 

Loss for the year   (3,603,871) (650,670) 

    

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss    

Net fair value gain on available for sale financial assets during the year  - 293,171 

Reclassification of available for sale assets disposed of during the year  - (293,171) 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  (12,048) 75,889 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year  (12,048) 75,889 

Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of income tax  (3,615,919) (574,781) 

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of the parent  (3,615,919) (574,781) 

    

Earnings per share    

Weighted average number of shares  118,064,409 113,412,820 

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 21 (3.05) (0.57) 

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) 21 (3.05) (0.57) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in 

conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2016 
 

  Consolidated 

 

Notes 

2016 

A$ 

2015 

A$ 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 22(b) 17,270,215 6,999,649 

Trade and other receivables 5 132,875 189,288 

Total Current Assets  17,403,090 7,188,937 

Non-current Assets    

Property, plant and equipment 6 274,357 65,730 

Exploration and evaluation assets 7 1,460,397 29,082   

Total Non-current Assets  1,734,754 94,812 

TOTAL ASSETS  19,137,844 7,283,749 

    

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 9 299,162 101,784 

Provisions 10 61,158 39,102 

Total Current Liabilities  360,320 140,886 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  360,320 140,886 

NET ASSETS  18,777,524 7,142,863 

    

EQUITY    

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company    

Issued capital 11 35,853,166 20,620,540 

Reserves 12 564,700 558,794 

Accumulated losses 13 (17,640,342) (14,036,471) 

TOTAL EQUITY  18,777,524 7,142,863 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
 

  Consolidated 

 

Note 

Year Ended 

2016 

A$ 

Year Ended 

2015 

A$ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Interest received  69,036  96,316 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (3,468,710) (1,623,400) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities 22(a) (3,399,674) (1,527,084) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  - 32,683 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 6 (293,785)    -   

Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets 7 (1,431,315) - 

Cost of acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets 8 - (565,915) 

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets 8 - 859,087 

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities  (1,725,100) 325,855 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares  16,200,000 - 

Payments for share issue transaction costs   (967,374) - 

Net cash inflow from financing activities  15,232,626 - 

    

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  10,107,852 (1,201,229) 

Foreign exchange movement on cash and cash equivalents  162,714 862,068 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  6,999,649 7,338,810 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 22(b) 17,270,215 6,999,649 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016 

Issued Capital 

A$ 

Share Based 

Payments 

Reserve 

A$ 

Foreign Currency 

Translation 

Reserve 

A$ 

Accumulated 

Losses 

A$ 

Total Equity 

A$ 

Balance at 1 July 2015 20,620,540 429,500 129,294 (14,036,471) 7,142,863 

Total comprehensive income for the year:      

Net loss for the year - - - (3,603,871) (3,603,871) 

Other comprehensive income:      

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 

operations - - (12,048) - (12,048) 

Income tax relating to components of other 

comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total other comprehensive income - - (12,048) - (12,048) 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - (12,048) (3,603,871) (3,615,919) 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity      

Capital raising 16,200,000 - - - 16,200,000 

Less cost of capital raising (967,374) - - - (967,374) 

Grant of options - 17,954 - - 17,954 

Total transactions with owners 15,232,626 17,954 - - 15,250,580 

Balance at 30 June 2016 35,853,166 447,454 117,246 (17,640,342) 18,777,524 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued) 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2015 

 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2015 

Issued Capital 

A$ 

Share Based 

Payments 

Reserve 

A$ 

Available-for-Sale 

Investments 

Reserve 

A$ 

Foreign Currency 

Translation 

Reserve 

A$ 

Accumulated 

Losses 

A$ 

Total Equity 

A$ 

Balance at 1 July 2014 20,620,540 429,500 - 53,405 (13,385,801) 7,717,644 

Total comprehensive income for the year:       

Net loss for the year - - - - (650,670) (650,670) 

Other comprehensive income:       

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign 

operations - - - 75,889 - 75,889 

Net fair value gain on available for sale financial assets 

during the year - - 293,171 - - 293,171 

Reclassification of available for sale assets disposed of 

during the year - - (293,171) - - (293,171) 

Income tax relating to components of other 

comprehensive income - - - - - - 

Total other comprehensive income - - - 75,889 - 75,889 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 75,889 (650,670) (574,781) 

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity       

Grant of options - - - - - - 

Total transactions with owners - - - - - - 

Balance at 30 June 2015 20,620,540 429,500 - 129,294 (14,036,471) 7,142,863 

 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



 
 

 OreCorp Limited ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 2016  31 

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial report of the Company, OreCorp Limited and 

its consolidated entities (‘Consolidated Entity’ or ‘Group’) for the year ended 30 June 2016 are stated to assist in 

a general understanding of the financial report. For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial 

statements, the Company is a for profit entity. 

OreCorp Limited is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly traded on 

the Australian Securities Exchange. 

The financial report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2016 was authorised for issue in accordance with 

a resolution of the Directors on 12 September 2016. 

(a) Basis of Preparation 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian 

Accounting Standards (‘AASs’) and interpretations adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 

(‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001.  

OreCorp Limited is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  

In the application of AASs management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 

carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 

reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results 

may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 

period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Judgements made by management in the application of AASs that have significant effects on the financial 

statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where 

applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 

satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying 

transactions or other events is reported. 

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for other financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss and available-for-sale investments, which have been measured at fair value. 

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. 
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(b) Statement of Compliance 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards (‘AIFRS’). The financial report, which includes the financial 

statements and the notes of the Group, also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). 

(c) New and Revised Accounting Standards 

 

In the current year, the Group has applied the amendment to AASBs issued by the Australian Accounting 

Standards Board (AASB) that is mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 July 2015, 

and therefore relevant for the current year end. Details of the impact of the adoption of these new accounting 

standards are set out in the individual accounting policy notes set out below.  

 

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to 

Australian Accounting Standards – 

arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 

1031 Materiality 

This amendment completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard to 

effectively be withdrawn. 

Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position 

There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the 

reporting results or financial position. 

 

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 

effective have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016. These are 

outlined in the table below: 
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Standard / Interpretation 

Effective for 

Annual 

Reporting 

Periods 

Beginning on or 

After 

Expected to be 

Initially Applied 

in the Financial 

Year Ending 

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments, and the relevant amending standards(1)’ 1 January 2018 30 June 2019 

AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and AASB 2014-5 

‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15, 

AASB 2015-8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective 

date of AASB 15’ and AASB 2016-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15’ 1 January 2018  30 June 2019 

AASB 16 ‘Leases’ 1 January 2019 30 June 2020 

AASB 1057 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards’ and AASB 

2015-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Scope and 

Application Paragraphs’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting 

for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity 

Method in Separate Financial Statements’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2014-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or 

Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture’ 

and AASB 2015-10 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128’ 1 January 2018 30 June 2019 

AASB 2015-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual 

Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012-2014 Cycle’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2015-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure 

Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017 

AASB 2016-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’ 1 January 2017 30 June 2018 

AASB 2016-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure 

Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107’ 1 January 2017 30 June 2018 

AASB 2016-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 1 January 2018 30 June 2019 

 

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, no IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations (for which 

Australian equivalent Standards and Interpretations have not yet been issued) were in issue but not yet effective.  

The directors note that the impact of the initial application of the standards and interpretations is not yet known 

or is not reasonably estimable. These standards and interpretations will be first applied in the financial report of 

the Group that relates to the annual reporting period beginning on or after the effective date of each 

pronouncement. 
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(d) Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of OreCorp Limited 

(‘Company’ or ‘Parent Entity’) as at year end and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. OreCorp 

Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to as the Group or the Consolidated Entity. 

In February 2013, OreCorp Limited acquired OreCorp Resources Pty Ltd. The acquisition did not meet the 

definition of a business combination in accordance with AASB 3 Business Combinations. These consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the acquisition was effectively a recapitalisation of 

OreCorp Resources, hence OreCorp Resources acquired OreCorp Limited and not vice versa as the legal 

documentation shows.  The recapitalisation was measured at the fair value of the equity instruments that would 

have been given by OreCorp Resources to have exactly the same percentage holding in the new structure at the 

date of the acquisition. 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls 

an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries/assets by the Group.  

Intercompany transactions and balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies, are 

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of 

the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

(e) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure encompasses expenditures incurred by the Group in connection with the 

exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 

extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable.  

Where the group acquires an area of interest (through direct purchase or purchase of an entity), expenditure 

incurred in the acquisition of the area of interest is capitalised, classified as tangible or intangible, and recognised 

as an exploration and evaluation asset. Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost at recognition.  

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred by the Group subsequent to acquisition of the rights to explore 

is expensed as incurred up to the successful completion of definitive feasibility studies. Expenditure in relation 

to the preparation of definitive feasibility studies is expensed as incurred. 

Capitalised exploration is only carried forward if the Company has rights to tenure and the Company expects to 

recoup the expenditures through successful development or sale.  
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Capitalised exploration costs are reviewed each reporting date to establish whether an indication of impairment 

exists. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the capitalised exploration costs is estimated to 

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 

carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent 

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had 

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years. 

Where a decision is made to proceed with development, accumulated expenditure is tested for impairment and 

transferred to development properties, and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the area 

of interest once mining operations have commenced. 

Recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation assets is dependent on successful 

development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas of interest. 

(f) Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The following specific 

recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Interest 

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the 

financial asset. 

(g) Income Tax 

The income tax expense or income for the period is the tax payable or recoverable on the current period's taxable 

income or tax loss based on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 

tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply 

when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or 

substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of 

deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made 

for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax 

asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than 

a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit 

or loss. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 

probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount 

and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 

directly in equity. 
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OreCorp Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have elected to form a tax consolidated 

group with effect from the tax year commencing 1 July 2010 and are therefore taxed as a single entity from that 

date. 

(h) Impairment of Assets 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for 

the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 

the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, 

assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating 

units). 

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

‘Cash and cash equivalents’ includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, and other 

short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

(j) Receivables 

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest rate method less an allowance for doubtful debts. Trade receivables are due for settlement no 

more than 30 days from the date of recognition. An estimate of doubtful debts is made when collection of the 

full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off as incurred. 

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method less impairment. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a receivable and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the interest rate that exactly discounts 

estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 

receivable, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

(k) Fair Value Estimation 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading 

and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price 

used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price for 

financial liabilities is the current ask price. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter 

derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes 

assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer 

quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as 

discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. 
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(l) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 

only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the 

cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of 

profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Plant and equipment are depreciated or amortised on a reducing balance or straight line basis at rates based 

upon their expected useful lives as follows: 

 

 Life 

Plant and equipment 2 – 15 years 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.  

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount 

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(h)).  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included 

in the statement of profit or loss. 

(m) Payables 

Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at amortised cost which is the fair value of the 

consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Consolidated 

Entity. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days. 

Payables to related parties are carried at amortised cost. 

(n) Employee Benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave 

expected to be settled within twelve months of the reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of 

employees' services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the 

liabilities are settled. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and 

measured at the rates paid or payable. Employee benefits payable later than one year are measured at the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made for those benefits. Contributions to defined 

contribution super plans are expensed when the employees have rendered the services entitling them to the 

contributions. 

(o) Contributed Equity 

Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received by the Company. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 

net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options, for 

the acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 
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(p) Dividends 

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the year but not distributed 

at balance date. 

(q) Earnings per Share  

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company, 

excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 

shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 

account the after tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares 

and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to 

dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(r) Goods and Services Tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

(i) where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation 

authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of 

the expense item as applicable; and 

(ii) receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables 

or payables in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST components of cash flows 

arising from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 

are classified as operating cash flows. 

(s) Share Based Payments  

Share based payments are provided to directors, employees, consultants and other advisors and to acquire assets 

such as mineral exploration licences. 

The fair value of options granted (determined using the Binomial option pricing model) is recognised as an 

expense or asset, as appropriate with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date 

and recognised over the period during which option holders become unconditionally entitled to the options. 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share based payments is expensed on a straight-

line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest. 
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(t) Foreign Currency Translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated 

financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Consolidated Entity's functional and 

presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 

the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 

in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as 

qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. 

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are 

reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities 

classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the available-for-sale investments revaluation 

reserve in equity. 

(iii) Group companies 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 

economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 

presentation currency as follows: 

a. Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate 

at the date of that statement of financial position; 

b. Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss are translated at average exchange rates (unless 

this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 

dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

c. All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and 

of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to other 

comprehensive income. Where a foreign operation is sold or borrowings repaid, a proportionate share of such 

exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and 

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. 

 

(u)  Segment Information 

 

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the 

Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate 

resources to the segment and to assess its performance.  

 

The Consolidated Entity operates in one operating segment and one geographical segment, being mineral 

exploration in Africa. This is the basis on which internal reports are provided to the Directors for assessing 

performance and determining the allocation of resources within the Group. 
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(v)  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, as described above, the directors of the Company are 

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on 

historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these 

estimates.  

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 

period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 

The estimates and assumptions that have a risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 

 

(i) Exploration and evaluation expenditure  

In accordance with accounting policy note 1(e) management determines when an area of interest should be 

abandoned. When a decision is made that an area of interest is not commercially viable, all costs that have been 

capitalised in respect of that area of interest are written off. In determining this, assumptions, including the 

maintenance of title, ongoing expenditure and prospectivity are made. See note 7 for disclosure of carrying 

values. 

 

(ii) Share-based payments  

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and consultants by 

reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they were granted. The fair value of 

options granted is determined using the Binomial option valuation model, based on the assumptions detailed in 

note 16. 
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. Consolidated 

 

Year Ended 

 2016 

$ 

Year Ended 

2015 

$ 

2. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME FROM CONTINUING 

OPERATIONS 

  

Revenue   

Interest revenue  48,526 73,617 

Total Revenue 48,526 73,617 

Other income   

Cumulative gain reclassified from equity on disposal of available for 

sale investment 

- 293,171 

Foreign exchange gain 235,682 836,452 

Total other income 235,682 1,129,623 

3. EXPENSES AND LOSSES    

Loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense includes the 

following specific expenses: 

  

(a) Other expenses   

Foreign exchange loss - 1,568 

(b) Depreciation and amortisation   

Depreciation of plant and equipment  (80,101) (64,178) 

(c) Impairment expenses   

Impairment of exploration intangible assets - (29,081) 

(d) Loss on disposal    

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment - (39,127) 

(e) Share based payment expense   

Share based payments recorded in corporate expenses (17,954) - 

(f) Employee Benefit Expense (1)   

Salaries and wages (697,449) (623,013) 

Annual leave provision movement (22,056) (3,574) 

Superannuation contribution (84,730) (78,499) 

 (804,235) (705,086) 

(g) Discontinued Operation (2)   

Discontinued operation costs for Ethiopian subsidiary - (201,293) 

Notes 

(1) Includes employment costs related to exploration, business development and corporate & administrative 

costs. 

(2) On 12 July 2015, the Company completed the wind up of its Ethiopian subsidiary.  
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 Consolidated 

 

Year Ended  

2016 

$ 

Year Ended  

2015 

$ 

4. INCOME TAX    

(a) Recognised in profit or loss   

Current income tax   

Current income tax benefit (598,623) (368,105) 

Deferred income tax   

Deferred tax assets not recognised 598,623 368,105 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss - - 

(b) Recognised directly in equity   

Deferred income tax related to items charged or credited directly to 

equity   

Transaction costs recognised directly in equity (23,194) - 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 23,194 - 

Income tax expense recognised directly in equity - - 

(c) Reconciliation between Tax Expense and Accounting Loss 

before Income Tax  

  

Accounting loss before income tax (3,603,871) (650,670) 

At the domestic income tax rate of 30% (2015: 30%) (1,081,161) (195,201) 

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes 420,393 596,687 

Deferred tax assets not recognised 615,344 (370,857) 

Effect of lower income tax rate in other jurisdictions 45,424 (30,629) 

Income tax expense reported in the statement of profit or loss - - 

(d) Deferred Income Tax    

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the following:   

Deferred Tax Liabilities   

Exploration and evaluation assets 10,342 8,724 

Accrued interest income 6,078 1,376 

Unrealised Foreign exchange movement 207,507 403,542 

Property, plant and equipment 15,429 - 

Deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities (239,356) (413,642) 

 - - 
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 Consolidated 

 

Year Ended  

2016 

$ 

Year Ended  

2015 

$ 

Deferred Tax Assets   

Accruals and provisions 32,148 11,731 

Business related costs 19,838 30,061 

Tax losses available to offset against future taxable income 3,070,851 3,203,059 

Deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities (239,356) (371,900) 

Deferred tax assets not recognised (2,883,481) (2,872,951) 

 - - 

The benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be brought to account if: 

(i) future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be 

realised; 

(ii) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation continue to be complied with; and 

(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Consolidated Entity in realising the benefit. 

(e) Tax losses 

At the reporting date the Group has unrecognised tax losses of $3,070,851 (2015: $3,203,181) that are available 

for offset against future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses 

due to the uncertainty of future profit streams. 

(f) Tax Consolidation 

OreCorp Limited and its 100% owned Australian resident subsidiaries have elected to form a tax consolidated 

group.  

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

5. CURRENT ASSETS – TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   

GST and VAT receivable 112,614 184,701 

Accrued interest receivable 20,261  4,587 

 132,875 189,288 
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 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

6. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

Plant and equipment   

Cost 566,702 286,846 

Accumulated depreciation  (292,345) (221,116) 

Net carrying amount 274,357 65,730 

Reconciliation   

Carrying amount at beginning of year 65,730 185,457 

Additions 293,785    -   

Disposals - (155,494) 

Depreciation on disposals - 83,683 

Depreciation charge for the year (80,101) (64,178) 

Foreign exchange movement on plant and equipment (5,057) 16,262 

Carrying amount at end of year, net of accumulated depreciation and 

impairment 274,357 65,730 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

7. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION 

ASSETS   

Exploration & Evaluation Assets   

Nyanzaga JV Project, Tanzania 1,425,923 - 

Misasi Project, Tanzania  5,392 - 

Cheriton’s East Project, Australia 29,082 29,082 

Net carrying amount 1,460,397 29,082 
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 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

Reconciliation - Exploration & Evaluation Assets   

Carrying amount at beginning of year 29,082 58,163 

Add acquisition of exploration and evaluation assets during the period(1)   1,431,315 - 

Less provision for impairment(2) - (29,081) 

Carrying amount of Exploration and Evaluation Assets at end of year, 

net of impairment 1,460,397 29,082 

Notes 

(1)  During the year, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding joint venture agreement (JV) 

with Acacia Mining plc to earn an interest in the Nyanzaga Gold Project (Nyanzaga or the Project) in 

northwest Tanzania. Pursuant to the JV Agreement, in October 2015 the Company made an initial upfront 

payment of US$1 million (A$1,425,923) to Acacia Mining and as a result, earnt a 5% interest in the Project. 

(2)  During the prior year, there was an impairment loss of $29,081 charged against the Consolidated Entity’s 

exploration and evaluation assets due to the relinquishment of a substantial portion of the Cheriton’s East 

exploration permit. 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS – OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS   

Available-for-sale financial assets   

Listed equity securities at fair value1 - - 

Net carrying amount - - 

Reconciliation   

Cost of acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets - (565,916) 

Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets1 - 859,087 

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets at end of year1 - 293,171 

Carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets at end of year - - 

Notes: 

(1) During the prior year, the Company acquired fully paid ordinary shares in a listed entity. The shares were 

sold during January and February 2015 for a gain on disposal of approximately $293,000, increasing the 

Company’s working capital position. 
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 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

9. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   

Accrued expenses (1) 46,000 56,000 

Trade creditors (1) 253,162 45,784   

Withholding taxes payable (1) -   -   

 299,162 101,784 

Note 

(1) Payables are non-interest bearing and generally settled on 30 day terms. Due to the short-term nature of 

these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

10. CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS   

Annual leave provision 61,158 39,102 

 61,158 39,102 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

11. ISSUED CAPITAL   

(a) Issued and Paid up Capital   

173,412,820 (2015: 113,412,820) fully paid ordinary shares 35,853,166 20,620,540 

(b) Movements in Ordinary Share Capital: 

 

Date Details 

Number of 

Shares 

Issue Price 

A$ $ 

1 July 2014 Opening Balance 113,412,820  20,620,540 

30 June 2015 Closing Balance 113,412,820  20,620,540 

1 July 2015 Opening Balance 113,412,820  20,620,540 

19 May 2016 Capital Raising 28,353,205 0.27 7,655,365 

22 June 2016 Capital Raising 31,646,795 0.27 8,544,635 

22 June 2016 Less: Capital Raising Costs - - (967,374) 

30 June 2016 Closing Balance 173,412,820 0.27 35,853,166 
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(c) Rights Attaching to Shares 

The rights attaching to fully paid ordinary shares (‘Shares’) arise from a combination of the Company's 

Constitution, statute and general law. 

Copies of the Company's Constitution are available for inspection during business hours at the Company's 

registered office. The clauses of the Constitution contain the internal rules of the Company and define matters 

such as the rights, duties and powers of its shareholders and directors, including provisions to the following effect 

(when read in conjunction with the Corporations Act 2001): 

(i) Shares 

The issue of shares in the capital of the Company and options over unissued shares by the Company is under the 

control of the directors, subject to the Corporations Act 2001, and any rights attached to any special class of 

shares. 

(ii) Meetings of Members 

Directors may call a meeting of members whenever they think fit. Members may call a meeting as provided by 

the Corporations Act 2001. The Constitution contains provisions prescribing the content requirements of notices 

of meetings of members and all members are entitled to a notice of meeting. A meeting may be held in two or 

more places linked together by audio-visual communication devices. A quorum for a meeting of members is two 

natural persons, each of whom is or represents different Shareholders who are eligible to vote. 

The Company holds annual general meetings in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001. 

(iii) Voting 

Subject to any rights or restrictions at the time being attached to any shares or class of shares of the Company, 

each member of the Company is entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at a general meeting. Resolutions 

of members will be decided by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. On a show of hands each eligible voter 

present has one vote. However, where a person present at a general meeting represents personally or by proxy, 

attorney or representative more than one member, on a show of hands the person is entitled to one vote only 

despite the number of members the person represents.  

On a poll each eligible member has one vote for each fully paid share held and a fraction of a vote for each partly 

paid share determined by the amount paid up on that share. 

(iv) Changes to the Constitution 

The Company's Constitution can only be amended by a special resolution passed by at least three quarters of the 

members present and voting at a general meeting of the Company. At least 28 days written notice specifying the 

intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution must be given. 
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 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

12. RESERVES   

(a) Reserves   

Share Based Payments Reserve:   

Nil (2015: Nil) $0.2667 Unlisted Options (1) 429,500 429,500 

Nil (2015: 1,875,000) $0.40 Unlisted Options - - 

2,985,000 $0.41 Unlisted Options 8,612 - 

2,800,000 $0.45 Unlisted Options 5,104 - 

2,750,000 $0.50 Unlisted Options 4,238 - 

 447,454 429,500 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve:   

Currency translation differences 117,246 129,294 

Total Reserves 564,700 558,794 

Notes: 

(1) During the 2014 financial year, all $0.2667 Unlisted Options expired unexercised. 

Share Based Payments Reserve 

The share based payments reserve is used to record the grant date fair value of share based payments and other 

option grants made by the Company. 

 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of 

the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries. 

(b) Movements in Share Based Payments Reserve 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date Details 

Number of 

Listed 

Options(1) 

Number of 

$0.267 Unlisted 

Options(2) 

Number of 

$0.40 Unlisted 

Options(3) $ 

1 Jul 2014 Opening Balance 5,930,692 5,199,999 1,875,000 429,500 

7 May 2015 Expiry of options (5,930,692) - - - 

30 Jun 2015 Expiry of options - (5,199,999) - - 

30 Jun 2015 Closing Balance - - 1,875,000 429,500 
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Notes 

(1) ‘Listed Options’ means listed options with an exercise price of $0.2667 each, expired 7 May 2015. 

(2) ‘$0.2667 Unlisted Options’ means options with an exercise price of $0.2667 each, expired 30 June 2015. 

(3) ‘$0.40 Unlisted Options’ means options with an exercise price of $0.40 each, expired 22 March 2016. 

(4)  Granted to directors, employee and consultants of the Company as part of its remuneration/incentive 

arrangements, expiring on 23 June 2019. 

(5)  Granted to directors, employee and consultants of the Company as part of its remuneration/incentive 

arrangements, expiring on 23 June 2019. 

(6)  Granted to directors, employee and consultants of the Company as part of its remuneration/incentive 

arrangements, expiring 31 May 2020. 

(7) Refer to Note 16 for details of share based payments during the year. 

(c) Terms and conditions of the Options  

The $0.41, $0.45 and $0.50 Unlisted Options (‘Options’) are granted based upon the following terms and 

conditions: 

• Each Option entitles the holder to subscribe for one Share upon exercise of each Option. 

• The Options have exercise prices and expiry dates as follows:    

- $0.41 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.41 each, expiring 23 June 2019. 

- $0.45 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.45 each, expiring 23 June 2019. 

- $0.50 Unlisted Options exercisable at $0.50 each, expiring 31 May 2020. 

• The Options are exercisable at any time prior to the Expiry Date, subject to the vesting conditions being 

satisfied (if applicable). 

• Shares issued on exercise of the Options rank equally with the then shares of the Company. 

• Application will be made by the Company for official quotation (if applicable) of the Shares issued upon 

the exercise of the Options. 

• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Option holders 

may be varied to comply with the Listing Rules (if applicable) which apply to the reconstruction at the 

time of the reconstruction. 

• No application for quotation (if applicable) of the Unlisted Options will be made by the Company. 

• Subject to the proposed transferee being a party which is within the class of parties in section 708 of the 

Corporations Act to which disclosure is not required, the Options are transferable. 

Date Details 

Number of 

Listed 

Options(1) 

Number of 

$0.40 

Unlisted 

Options(3) 

Number of 

$0.41 

Unlisted 

Options(4) 

Number of 

$0.45 

Unlisted 

Options(5) 

Number of 

$0.50 

Unlisted 

Options(6) $ 

1 Jul 2015 Opening Balance - 1,875,000 - - - 429,500 

30 Mar 2016 Expiry of options - (1,875,000) - - - - 

22 Jun 2016 Grant of 

options(7) 

- - 2,985,000 2,800,000 2,750,000 17,954 

30 Jun 2016 Closing Balance - - 2,985,000 2,800,000 2,750,000 447,454 
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(d) Movements in Foreign Currency Translation Reserve  

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

Balance at beginning of year 129,294 53,405 

Currency translation differences (12,048)  75,889 

Balance at end of year 117,246 129,294 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

13. ACCUMULATED LOSSES   

Balance at beginning of year (14,036,471) (13,385,801) 

Net loss (3,603,871) (650,670) 

Balance at end of year (17,640,342) (14,036,471) 

(a) Franking Account 

In respect to the payment of dividends (if any) by OreCorp in subsequent financial years, no franking credits are 

currently available, or are likely to become available in the next 12 months. 

14. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

The aggregate compensation made to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the 

Company and the Group is set out below: 

 

 Consolidated 

 

Year Ended  

2016 

$ 

Year Ended  

2015 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits 593,790 583,790 

Post-employment benefits 71,210 71,210 

Share-based payments 11,799 - 

 676,799 655,000 
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15. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

(a) Transactions with Related Parties in the Group 

The Group consists of OreCorp Ltd (the parent entity in the wholly owned group) and its controlled entities (see 

note 17). Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the 

Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. There were no other 

transactions with related parties during the year. 

(b) Other Transactions with Related Parties 

There were no other transactions with related parties during the year ended 30 June 2016.  

16. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (‘WAEP’) of, and movements in, 

share options issued as share based payments during the year: 

 

 2016 

Number 

2016 

WAEP 

2015 

Number 

2015 

WAEP 

Outstanding at beginning of year 1,875,000 $0.40 7,074,999 $0.3020 

Options expired during the year (1,875,000) $0.40 (5,199,999) $0.2667 

Options granted during the year 8,535,000 $0.452 - - 

Options exercised during the year - - - - 

Outstanding at end of year 8,535,000 $0.452 1,875,000 $0.40 

Exercisable at end of year 8,535,000 $0.452 1,875,000 $0.40 

The outstanding balance of options issued as share based payments on issue as at 30 June 2016 is represented 

by: 

• 2,985,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.41 each that expire on 23 June 2019;  

• 2,800,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.45 each that expire on 23 June 2019; and 

• 2,750,000 unlisted options at an exercise price of $0.50 each that expire on 31 May 2020.  

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding as at 30 June 2016 is 3.3 years (2015: 

0.75 years). 

The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.41 - $0.50. 

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was $0.118 (2015: Nil). 

The terms and conditions of the options are disclosed in note 12(c). 

The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the Binomial 

option valuation model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 

The following table lists the inputs to the valuation model used for share options granted by the Company during 

the year ended 30 June 2016: 
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There were no share options issued as share based payments in the prior year and none exercised during the 

current financial year. It is further noted that none of the share options issued during the current financial year 

as share based payments were forfeited or expired during the year. 

The dividend yield reflects the assumption that the current dividend payout will remain unchanged. The expected 

life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. 

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which 

may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. 

The total share based payment expense recorded by the Group during the year was $17,954 (2015: Nil). All share 

based payments were accounted for as equity-settled share based payment transactions. 

17. CONTROLLED ENTITIES  

All controlled entities are included in the consolidated financial statements. The parent entity does not guarantee 

to pay the deficiency of its controlled entities in the event of a winding up of any controlled entity. The financial 

year end of the controlled entities is the same as that of the parent entity, except for the Mauritanian entity 

which is required by local law to use a 31 December year end (note – special purpose IFRS Accounts are 

maintained for the purposes of the consolidated financial statements). 

  

Valuation Model Input 

Tranche 1 $0.41 

Options 

Tranche 2 $0.45 

Options 

Tranche 3 $0.50 

Options 

Exercise price $0.41 $0.45 $0.50 

Share price on date of grant $0.28 $0.28 $0.28 

Share price at 30 June 2016 $0.31 $0.31 $0.31 

Dividend yield Nil Nil Nil 

Volatility  80% 80% 80% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.68% 1.68% 1.68% 

Grant date 22/06/16 22/06/16 22/06/16 

Expiry date 23/06/19 23/06/19 31/05/20 

Expected life of option (years) 3.01 3.01 3.94 

    

Number of options granted 2,985,000 2,800,000 2,750,000 

Fair value at grant date $0.117 $0.111 $0.125 

Valuation per Tranche $349,245 $310,800 $343,750 

    

Vesting date 22/06/17 22/12/17 22/06/18 

Vesting period (years) 1.0 1.5 2.0 

Expensed at 30 June 2016 (pro-rata basis) Yes Yes Yes 
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Name of Controlled Entity 

Place of 

Incorporation 

% of Shares Held 

2016 

% of Shares Held 

2015 

OreCorp International Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

OreCorp Resources Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

OreCorp Tanzania Ltd Tanzania 100% 100% 

OreCorp Mining Mauritius Ltd Mauritius 100% 100% 

OreCorp Mauritania SARL Mauritania 100% 100% 

OreCorp East Africa Pty Ltd Australia - 100% 

OreCorp Africa Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

OreCorp REE Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

Silverstone Minerals Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

OreCorp Minerals Plc Ethiopia - 100% 

Notes: 

(1)  OreCorp East Africa Pty Ltd and OreCorp Minerals Plc were formally wound-up and de-registered during 

the year. 

18. INTEREST IN OTHER ENTITIES 

 

Entity Activity Interest at  

30 June 2016 

Interest at  

30 June 2015 

    

Nyanzaga Project – Tanzania (1) Gold Exploration 5% (2) Nil 

Akjoujt South Project - 

Mauritania  

Nickel – Copper Exploration 
90% 90% 

 
Notes 

(1)  During the year, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding earn-in agreement 

(Agreement) with Acacia Mining plc to earn an interest in the Nyanzaga Gold Project (Nyanzaga or the 

Project) in northwest Tanzania. Nyanzaga hosts an updated MRE of 29.8Mt @ 3.5g/t gold for 3.3Moz gold. 

Pursuant to the Agreement, in October 2015 the Company made an initial upfront payment of US$1 

million (A$1,425,923) to Acacia Mining and as a result, earned a 5% interest in the Project. 

(2)  In August 2016, the Company announced the Scoping Study results for the Project and as a result, earned 

a further 5% interest in the Project to move to a 10% interest. 
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 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

19. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS   

Amounts received or due and receivable by Deloitte Australia for:   

- an audit or review of the financial reports of the Group 29,700 29,500 

- other services in relation to the Group - - 

Amounts received or due and receivable by PwC Tanzania for:   

- an audit or review of the financial reports of OreCorp Tanzania Ltd 10,257 - 

- other services in relation to the OreCorp Tanzania Ltd (tax services) 3,556 - 

Total Auditors' Remuneration 43,513 29,500 

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the 

Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate 

resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 

The Consolidated Entity operates in one operating segment and one geographical segment, being mineral 

exploration. This is the basis on which internal reports are provided to the Directors for assessing performance 

and determining the allocation of resources within the Consolidated Entity. 

 

 

Year Ended  

2016 

cents 

Year Ended 

2015 

cents 

21. EARNINGS PER SHARE   

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share):   

From continuing operations (3.05) (0.39) 

From discontinued operations - (0.18) 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share) (3.05) (0.57) 

 

 

Year Ended  

2016 

$ 

Year Ended 

2015 

$ 

The following reflects the income and share data used in the 

calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share: 

 

 

Net loss used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share:   

Net loss from continuing operations (3,603,871) (449,377) 

Net loss from discontinued operations - (201,293) 

Earnings used in calculations of basic and diluted loss per share (3,603,871) (650,670) 
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Number of 

Shares 2016 

Number of 

Shares 2015 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic 

earnings per share, adjusted to reflect the group restructure 118,064,409 113,412,820 

Effect of dilutive securities(1) - - 

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares used in 

calculating diluted earnings per share 118,064,409 113,412,820 

Note  

(1) Non-dilutive securities: As at balance date, 8,535,000 unlisted options (2015: 1,875,000) which represent 

8,535,000 potential ordinary shares (2015: 1,875,000) were not considered dilutive, for the purposes of 

calculating the loss per share for the year ended 30 June 2016, as they would decrease the loss per share.  

Conversions, calls, subscriptions or issues after 30 June 2016 

There have been no conversions, calls, subscriptions or issues of shares or options subsequent to balance date, 

other than as disclosed in Note 27. 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

22. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS   

(a) Reconciliation of Net Loss after Income Tax to Net Cash Outflow 

from Operating Activities 

  

Net loss after income tax (3,603,871) (650,670) 

Adjustment for non-cash income and expense items   

Depreciation 80,101 64,178 

Provision for annual leave 22,056 1,052 

Share based payments 17,954 -   

Impairment of exploration intangible assets - 29,081 

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss attributable to operating activities (169,705) (802,441) 

Loss on disposal of plant & equipment -  39,127 

Gain on disposal of available-for-sale shares in listed entity - (293,171) 

Changes in assets and liabilities   

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 56,413 111,203 

Decrease/(increase) in other current assets - 25,540 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 197,378 (50,983) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities (3,399,674) (1,527,084) 

(b) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents 
  

Cash at bank and on hand 349,880 984,906 

Bank short-term deposits 16,920,335 6,014,743 

 17,270,215 6,999,649 

(c) Credit Standby Arrangements with Banks 

At balance date, the Group had no used or unused financing facilities. 
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(d) Non-cash Financing and Investment Activities 

(i) 30 June 2016 

During the year ended 30 June 2016, the Group did not complete any investment transactions that 

involved the issue of shares as consideration.  

(ii) 30 June 2015 

During the year ended 30 June 2015, the Group did not complete any investment transactions that 

involved the issue of shares as consideration. 

 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

23. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES   

(a) Parent Entity – Financial Position   

ASSETS   

Current Assets 17,079,268 6,954,842 

Non-current Assets 1,472,913 52,560 

TOTAL ASSETS 18,552,181 7,007,402 

   

LIABILITIES   

Current Liabilities 320,980 138,756 

Non-current Liabilities 4,619,611 4,619,611 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,940,591 4,758,367 

NET ASSETS 13,611,590 2,249,035 

   

EQUITY   

Issued capital 24,363,109 9,130,483 

Reserves 447,454 429,500 

Accumulated losses (11,198,973) (7,310,948) 

TOTAL EQUITY 13,611,590 2,249,035 

   

(b) Parent Entity – Financial Performance   

Loss for the year (3,888,025) (382,370) 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) - - 

Loss attributable to members of the parent (3,888,025) (382,370) 

(c) Guarantees Entered into by the Parent Entity in Relation to the Debts of its Subsidiaries 

As at 30 June 2016, the Parent had not entered into any guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 
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(d) Contingent Liabilities of the Parent Entity 

As at 30 June 2016, the Parent did not have any contingent liabilities. 

(e) Commitments for the Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment by the Parent Entity 

As at 30 June 2016, the Parent did not have any commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment. 

24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

(a) Overview  

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash and short-term deposits.  

The totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with AASB 139 as detailed in the 

accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows: 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

Financial Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 17,270,215 6,999,649 

Other current receivables 132,875 189,288 

Total financial assets 17,403,090   7,188,937 

Financial Liabilities   

Trade and other payables 299,162 101,784 

Total financial liabilities 299,162 101,784 

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit 

risk and liquidity risk. 

This note presents information about the Group's exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and 

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Other than as disclosed, there have 

been no significant changes since the previous financial year to the exposure or management of these risks.  

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group's financial risk management 

policy. Key risks are monitored and reviewed as circumstances change (e.g. acquisition of a new project) and 

policies are revised as required. The overall objective of the Group's financial risk management policy is to 

support the delivery of the Group's financial targets whilst protecting future financial security. 

Given the nature and size of the business and uncertainty as to the timing and amount of cash inflows and 

outflows, the Group does not enter into derivative transactions to mitigate the financial risks. In addition, the 

Group's policy is that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken for the purposes of making 

speculative gains. As the Group's operations change, the Directors will review this policy periodically going 

forward.  

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 

framework. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing the Group's financial risks as summarised below. 
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(b) Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Board's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient 

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. As at 30 June 2015, the Group has sufficient liquid assets to meet its 

financial obligations. 

(c) Liquidity and Interest Risk Tables 

 

 Weighted 

Average 

Effective 

Interest Rate 

% 

≤ 6 months 

$ 

Total 

$ 

2016    

Group    

Financial Assets    

Non-interest bearing (1) - 3,404,700  3,404,700  

Variable interest rate instruments  1.17  4,702,768 4,702,768 

Fixed interest rate instruments  2.13  9,295,622 9,295,622 

  17,403,090 17,403,090 

Financial Liabilities    

Non-interest bearing - 299,162 299,162 

  299,162 299,162 

 

2015 

   

Group    

Financial Assets    

Non-interest bearing - 4,642,398 4,642,398 

Variable interest rate instruments 1.71 920,917 920,917 

Fixed interest rate instruments 4.73 1,625,622 1,625,622 

  7,188,937 7,188,937 

    

Financial Liabilities    

Non-interest bearing - 101,784 101,784 

  101,784 101,784 

Notes: 

(1)  The majority of the non-interest bearing financial assets are US dollars on deposit, which earn no interest 

income. 
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(d) Interest Rate Risk Exposure 

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash and short-term 

deposits with a floating interest rate. 

These financial assets with variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. All other financial 

assets and liabilities, in the form of receivables and payables are non-interest bearing. 

The Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk. 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 

A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level of both short-term 

and long-term interest rates. An increase of 10% in the interest rates at the reporting date would have increased 

(decreased) equity and profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other 

variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.  

 

 Profit or Loss Equity 

 10% 

Increase 

$ 

10% 

Decrease 

$ 

10% 

Increase 

$ 

10% 

Decrease 

$ 

2016     

Group     

Cash and cash equivalents 4,633  (4,633) 4,633  (4,633) 

     

2015     

Group     

Cash and cash equivalents 12,679 (12,679) 12,679 (12,679) 

It is noted that the analysis shown above is not representative of the risks faced by the Group throughout the 

period because interest rates and cash balances have changed significantly during 2016 and 2015. 

(e) Net Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

The net fair value of cash, cash equivalents and financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying 

value. 

 

(f) Credit Risk Exposure 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations. This arises principally from cash and cash equivalents and trade and other 

receivables and in the Company includes loans to controlled entities. 
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The carrying amount of the Group's financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure, as represented 

below: 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

Financial Assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 17,270,215 6,999,649 

Trade and other receivables and other financial assets 132,875 189,288 

Total financial assets 17,403,090 7,188,937 

With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group's exposure to credit risk arises from 

default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. The 

parent entity's cash and cash equivalents are held with the Westpac Bank and Commonwealth Bank, which are 

Australian banks with an AA credit rating (Standard & Poor's). 

The Group does not have any significant customers and accordingly does not have any significant exposure to 

bad or doubtful debts.  

Trade and other receivables includes GST/VAT refunds receivable and accrued interest. Where possible the 

Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who 

wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are 

monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant. None of 

the Group's receivables at 30 June 2016 are past due. No impairment losses have been recognised. 

The Company's accounts include receivables from controlled entities for which full provisions for non-recovery 

have been made. Provision is made against loans to controlled entities where the underlying exploration assets 

have been fully provided for or written off.  

(g) Foreign Currency Risk 

The Group also has transactional currency exposures. Such exposure arises from transactions denominated in 

currencies other than the functional currency of the entity. 

The Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage foreign currency risk. 

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk throughout the current and prior year primarily arose from certain 

controlled entities of the Company with functional currencies other than AUD having foreign currency exposure 

in relation to intercompany loans which are denominated in Australian dollars. In the Group accounts, the 

exchange movements on these loans are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve. As noted above, these 

loans are fully provided for and accordingly, the carrying value of these loans at balance date is $nil (2014: $nil). 

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 

the end of the reporting period are as follows. 
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Assets 

2016 

$ 

Assets 

2015 

$ 

US dollars 3,183,854 4,417,515 

Other (Tanzanian and Mauritanian) 45,575 4,681 

 3,229,429 4,422,196 

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis  

A sensitivity of 10% has been selected as this represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible 

change in foreign exchange rates.  The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency 

denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% change in foreign currency 

rates.  A positive number below indicates an increase in profit or equity where the Australian dollar strengthens 

10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening of the Australian dollar against the relevant currency, 

there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the balances below would be negative. 

 

 Profit or Loss Equity (1) 

 10% 

Strengthening 

$ 

10% 

Weakening 

$ 

10% 

Strengthening 

$ 

10% 

Weakening 

$ 

2016     

Group     

Impact of foreign exchange rate movement 334,618  (272,976) 358,825  (293,584) 

     

2015     

Group     

Impact of foreign exchange rate movement 484,288 (396,236) 491,355 (402,018) 

(1) The equity movement includes the profit or loss impact of the change as this is reflected in accumulated losses. 

It is noted that the analysis shown above is not representative of the risks faced by the Group throughout the 

year because foreign exchange rates and foreign currency denominated monetary balances have changed during 

2016 and 2015. 

(h) Commodity risk 

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk. These commodity prices can be volatile and are influenced by 

factors beyond the Group's control. As the Group is currently engaged in exploration and business development 

activities, no sales of commodity products are forecast for the next 12 months, and accordingly, no hedging or 

derivative transactions have been used to manage price risk. 
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(i) Capital Management 

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence 

and to sustain future development of the business. Given the stage of development of the Group, the Board's 

objective is to minimise debt and to raise funds as required through the issue of new shares. The Group may also 

examine new business opportunities, where acquisition/working capital requirements of a new project may 

involve additional funding in some format. 

The Group is not definitively committed to any specific exploration spend on its exploration licences in Africa and 

will continue to assess ongoing exploration results on the licences, prior to making any decisions on future 

exploration programs and expenditures. 

There were no changes in the Group's approach to capital management during the year. 

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

25. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE 

 

 Consolidated 

 

2016 

$ 

2015 

$ 

Commitments   

Not longer than 1 year 7,581,221 235,424 

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 32,188 29,732 

 7,613,409 265,156 

Note 

(1)  The majority of the commitments at 30 June 2016 relate to the proposed budget for the completion of 

the PFS for the Nyanzaga Project, expected to be completed in Q1 2017. Other amounts include the rent 

for offices in Tanzania and Australia. 

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

As at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015, the Group did not have any contingent liabilities. 

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Other than as disclosed below, there were no significant events occurring after balance date requiring disclosure. 

(i) On 10 August 2016, the Company completed the Scoping Study for the Nyanzaga Project (a full summary 

of the Scoping Study results is provided above). The Study confirmed the outstanding potential of the 

Project and its ability to potentially generate robust cash flows. The Board subsequently approved the PFS 

to commence immediately in mid-August and expects to complete this study in Q1 2017; and 

(ii) On 2 September 2016, the Company granted 1,300,000 unlisted options under the Employee Option 

Acquisition Plan to key employees.  
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 
 

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of OreCorp Limited, I state that: 

(1) In the opinion of the Directors: 

(a) the financial statements and notes thereto of the Consolidated Entity are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001 including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity's financial position as at 30 June 2016 

and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with accounting standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Consolidated Entity will be able to pay their debts 

as and when they become due and payable. 

(2) The attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as 

stated in note 1 to the financial statements. 

(3) The Directors have been given a declaration required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for 

the financial year ended 30 June 2016. 

 

 

On behalf of the Board 

 

 
 

MATTHEW YATES 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

12 September 2016 

 

 



 

64  

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 
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AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
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DISCLAIMER/FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

Forward Looking Statements 

This Report contains statements which may constitute forward-looking information. Such statements are only 

predictions and are subject to inherent risks, uncertainties and other factors which could cause actual values, 

results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed, implied or projected in any 

forward-looking statements. Forward-looking information is developed based on assumptions about such risks, 

uncertainties and other factors, including but not limited to the risk factors set out in the Scoping Study Results 

Announcement and OreCorp’s prospectus dated 30 January 2013.  These documents do not provide an 

exhaustive list of factors that may affect OreCorp’s forward-looking information. These and other factors should 

be considered carefully and readers should not place undue reliance on such forward-looking information. No 

representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by the Company that the matters stated in this 

presentation will be achieved or prove to be correct. Recipients of this presentation must make their own 

investigations and inquiries regarding all assumptions, risks, uncertainties and contingencies which may affect 

the future operations of the Company or the Company's securities.  

OreCorp disclaims any intent or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a 

result of new information, estimates or opinions, future events or results or otherwise, unless required to do so 

by law. 

Cautionary Statements 

The Scoping Study referred to in this presentation is based on low accuracy level technical and economic 

assessments (determined to a nominal accuracy +/-35%), and is insufficient to support estimation of Ore 

Reserves or to provide assurance of an economic development case at this stage; or to provide certainty that the 

conclusions of the Scoping Study will be realised. 83% of the existing Mineral Resource Estimate (MRE) is in the 

Indicated and Measured categories, with the balance of 17% classified in the Inferred category. There is a low 

level of geological confidence associated with Inferred mineral resources and there is no certainty that further 

exploration work will result in the determination of Indicated or Measured Mineral Resources. Furthermore, 

there is no certainty that further exploration work will result in the conversion of Indicated and Measured 

Mineral Resources to Ore Reserves, or that the production target itself will be realised.  

The consideration of all JORC modifying factors is well advanced, including mining studies, processing and 

metallurgical studies, registration of the intent to submit an ESIA with the responsible regulator, environmental 

baseline studies, key inputs into the application for a Special Mining Licence and other key permits required from 

the government. The Company believes it has a reasonable basis for providing the forward looking statements 

in this presentation.  In addition, the Company believes that it has a reasonable basis to expect it will be able to 

fund the development of the Nyanzaga Project with its JV partner (Acacia Mining plc). Please refer to the Scoping 

Study Results Announcement dated 10 August 2016 for further details.  
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JORC 2012 COMPLIANCE STATEMENTS 
 

Nyanzaga Project 

The information in this Report relating to the Nyanzaga Project is extracted from the ASX Announcement dated 

10 August 2016 titled ‘Scoping Study Confirms Outstanding Potential of Nyanzaga Project & Delivers MRE 

Upgrade’ which is available to view on the Company’s website ‘orecorp.com.au’. 

  

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information 

included in the Scoping Study Results Announcement and, in the case of (i) estimates of Mineral Resources, (ii) 

Metallurgical Testwork and Results, and (iii) Exploration Results in relation to the Nyanzaga Project (Project 

Results), that all material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the Project Results in the Scoping 

Study Results Announcement continue to apply and have not materially changed. The Company confirms that 

the form and context in which the Competent Persons’ findings are presented have not been materially modified 

from the Scoping Study Results Announcement. 

Akjoujt South Project 

The information in this Report relating to the Akjoujt South Project is extracted from the following original ASX 

Announcements dated; 2 August 2016 titled ‘Significant Nickel-Copper Drill Intercepts from Akjoujt South 

Project, Mauritania’, 26 July 2016 titled ‘June Quarterly Activities and Cash Flow Report’ and 1 July 2016 titled 

‘Drilling Update and Ground Magnetic Anomalies Identified’ which are available to view on the Company’s 

website ‘orecorp.com.au’.  

The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or data that materially affects the information 

included in the original ASX Announcements referred to above and, in the case of Exploration Results, that all 

material assumptions and technical parameters underpinning the Exploration Results in the original ASX 

Announcements referred to above continue to apply and have not materially changed. The Company confirms 

that the form and context in which the Competent Person’s findings are presented have not been materially 

modified from the original ASX Announcements referred to above. 

 



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


